

Thermal Wave Probe Made It Simple



PROFESSOR DR. MOHD MAAROF H. A. MOKSIN

# METROLOGY AT NANOSCALE

Thermal Wave Probe Made It Simple

## **PROFESSOR DR. MOHD MAAROF H. A. MOKSIN**

B.Sc. (Hons) UKM, M.Sc. (Brunel), Ph.D (Strathclyde)

11 April 2008

Dewan Taklimat Bangunan Pentadbiran Universiti Putra Malaysia



Penerbit Universiti Putra Malaysia Serdang • 2008 http://www.penerbit.upm.edu.my

#### © Penerbit Universiti Putra Malaysia

First Print 2008

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing from the publisher, except by a reviewer who wishes to quote brief passages in a review written for inclusion in a magazine or newspaper.

UPM Press is a member of the Malaysian Book Publishers Association (MABOPA) Membership No.: 9802

Perpustakaan Negara Malaysia

Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

Mohd Maarof Abd. Moksin
Metrology at nanoscale : Thermal wave probe made it simple / Mohd Maarof Abd. Moksin.
(Inaugural lecture series)
ISBN 978-967-5026-66-9
1. Nanotechnology. 2. Speeches, addresses, etc. I. Title.
620.5

Design, layout and printed by

Penerbit Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM Serdang Selangor Darul Ehsan Tel: 03-8946 8855 / 8854 Fax: 03-8941 6172 http://www.penerbit.upm.edu.my

Cover Photo : Semiconductor International Magazine

## Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	3
Thermal Diffusivity	4
Thermal Waves	5
Thermal Waves Generation and Detection	6
Converging Thermal Wave Technique	10
CTWaveProbe™. The New Converging Thermal Wave Technique	12
Conclusion	15
References	16
Biography	21
Acknowledgement	23
List of Inaugural	25

#### ABSTRACT

Anajor hurdle facing nanotechnology implementation is in how samples of nano-scale dimensions can be probed. Parts of the problems include sample mounting, making contact with the sample; the possibility that the act of measuring alters the sample, repeatability and accuracy of measurement and referencing reference metrology to calibrate various tools to perform required measurements.

The present attempted solution is certainly not a one-size-fits-all matter and no more than a complement to existing tools available such as SEM, TEM, AFM etc, which are no match for the simplicity of the thermal wave probe.

Initially the thermal wave probe was not intended for nano-scale applications. The discovery of the converging thermal wave mechanism in thin subsurface layers opened up avenues for stand alone thin layer probing even for materials of high thermal conductivity and diffusivity like copper and silver. This came in tandem with the advent of nano-materials whereby electronic packaging materials could include thin layers with thermal diffusivity exceeding that of copper to alleviate problems associated with overheating.

From the time the converging thermal wave technique was introduced in the mid eighties until very recently, it could only be performed with the availability of massive and expensive ultra-short lasers even though the thinnest material that could be measured was 30 µm. With the birth of the CTWaveProbe<sup>™</sup> this myth should no longer exist. Within the limitations of standard samples available the CTWaveProbe<sup>™</sup> has measured samples of thickness as low as 0.75 µm.

In the near future everyone can perform nano-scale measurement like everyone now can fly!

#### INTRODUCTION

Since time immemorial beauty and the love of it has not been merely skin deep. Man's extensive perceptions and obsession with beauty motivates him to look much deeper by not altering outer appearances which are already part and parcel of beauty. Scientists and engineers showed the way by using non-destructive testing (NDT) tools. In a nutshell the tool sends information carriers which non-destructively interact with materials beneath the skin and carry the results of the interaction back to the tool to be analyzed for matters of interest that remain hidden from unaided eyes.

Different information carriers interact differently and therefore conveys different information that may represent some of the material characteristics and features. The standard information carriers that are conventionally in use include the electron beam in SEM, ESEM and TEM; the atomic force in AFM and x-rays in XRD which produce images of the sample at high resolution at atomic and molecular level. These images provide strong justification for the established or new characteristics of the sample that still have to be measured by other suitable tools like the thermal wave probe. The characteristics of the materials or products are direct indications of its ability, suitability and sustainability to perform under specified conditions.

As the world view shrinks from huge big-bang matter to a mere global village, so do consumer products in the market become smaller and thinner. For instance, multilayers of even thinner films are now deposited on substrates in preparation of MEMS (micro-electromechanical systems). The trend of miniaturization also results in large dissipative power density in the devices that are usually operated at ambient temperatures such as computers and cell phone microchips. The power density in Intel Pentium chips may be equivalent to that of a hot plate of 10 Wcm<sup>-2</sup> (Haque and Saif, 2005). Size and shape always matters and material properties of thin layers (attached or stand alone) are expected to vary with thickness. Thin materials' behavior deviates from

its bulk characteristics and properties due to its different structure or simply because information carrier interaction with and other interactions at boundaries become prominent as materials become thinner. Thermal properties such as thermal diffusivity and thermal conductivities are no exception.

The following pages describe how the CTWaveProbe<sup>™</sup> found the way and the opportunities in simple nano-scale measurement.

## THERMAL DIFFUSIVITY

We are used to experiencing overheated arguments which have the tendency to deviate from the topic of discussion which eventually puts us in danger of a breakdown in communication. Thus we may end up with undesired results if we allow ourselves to be trapped in a web of overheated environments. The same problems may also occur in products and tools if its components and parts become overheated forcing them to operate at temperatures higher than has been specified. Overheating of components in controlled ambient conditions has its roots in the design which partly involves choice and availability of materials with suitable thermal properties to efficiently remove excess heat before temperatures rise above the threshold.

Heat transport within solids is governed by conduction and diffusion at rates determined by its thermal conductivity and diffusivity. Even though heat conduction depends on material thermal conductivity, the rate of rise (Haydari, 2004) and fall (Moksin *et al*, 1997) in temperature, in particular in high conductivity materials, depends on thermal diffusivity (Ozisik, 1993) which is known as the ratio of heat conducted to heat stored. Higher thermal diffusivity means that the material is better able to transfer heat than to absorb heat and is therefore less likely to trap heat and cause overheating. The best heat dissipating materials are thought to be prepared from graphene (hexagonal lattice of carbon atom). Japan Fujitsu Laboratories Ltd for example has very

recently successfully created a new nano-scale composite of self-organizing structure by combining carbon nanotubes and graphene. Graphine also could replace silicon in semiconductors since electrons travel more than 100 times faster in graphine than in silicon.

Being a derived quantity thermal diffusivity ( $\alpha$ ) is not a primary material physical property but is directly related to other physical properties of the material or its micrograph features. In the relation ( $\alpha = k/(\rho c)$ ) thermal diffusivity measures the final effect of collective changes in thermal conductivity (k), density ( $\rho$ ) and the specific heat capacity (c) of the material. On other hand, for phonon conductors, thermal diffusivity can also be expressed as (Bruls *et al*, 2005),  $\alpha = \frac{1}{3} \upsilon_s \ell_{tot}$  where  $\upsilon_s$  is the average phonon velocity and  $\ell_{tot}$  is the total mean free path of the phonons. Since  $\upsilon_s$  is weakly dependent on temperature,  $\alpha$  is determined by  $\ell_{tot}$ . Furthermore if there are no secondary phases taken into account  $\ell_{tot}$  is determined by lattice characteristics, defects and grain boundaries present in the materials. At low temperatures where lattice vibration has little effect, the thermal diffusivity indicates changes in the grain size (Haydari *et al*, 2004) besides defects that may exist in the materials.

Since thermal diffusivity is the most relevant thermal property, the following description focuses on issues related to the measurement of its quantity.

#### THERMAL WAVES

One of the important information carriers of thermal properties is the thermal wave. Thermal wave, also known as heat wave, is a diffusion wave. Diffusion waves differ from other generally known waves by not obeying the wave equation:

$$\nabla^2 \psi = \frac{1}{\upsilon^2} \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial t^2}$$

Instead, it obeys the diffusion equation:

$$\nabla^2 \psi = \frac{1}{\alpha} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t}$$

 $\psi$  is an oscillating temperature resulting from the optical modulated heating of medium,  $\alpha$  is the thermal diffusivity and  $\upsilon$  is the velocity. Its highly damped nature which travels not further than a diffusion length before being severely attenuated makes thermal waves suitable candidates to probe surfaces, subsurfaces and thin layers for thermal properties. Further, thermal waves obey a linear law rather than a square law such that when they encounter interfaces, thermal waves obey an accumulation-depletion law rather than the reflectionrefraction law of normal waves (Mandelis, 2000).

The solution to the last differential equation forms the major part of data analysis to extract thermal diffusivity of material from experimental data. The solution has many forms that can be tailored to the mechanism of thermal wave generation and detection other than the shape and size of the sample.

## THERMAL WAVES GENERATION & DETECTION

To have better control over thermal waves and more importantly to be able to extract information carried by the waves, it can be generated according to one's specific requirements in terms of thermal diffusion length, transparency or the specific temperature profile in the sample. In most cases, it is generated remotely following absorption of pulsed or modulated optical radiation. For choice of optical radiation, there are options from the most expensive and convenient such as lasers (Grozescu, 1998) to the very cheap and simple such as the camera flash (Haydari, 2004 and Husin 2007) that may also be very convenient for some types of work. For detection, the choice ranges from direct detection by using a remote IR detectors (Grozescu, 1998) such as liquid  $N_2$  cooled CMT, thermally attached detectors such as PVDF film (Haydari, 2004),

thermocouples (Husin 2007) or laser probes (Grozescu, 1998 and Grozescu *et al*, 2004); to indirect detection by using a simple microphone (Yunus *et. al.* 2001 & 2002).

These options can be weighted in terms of fulfillment of some or all of the following requirements:

- 1. Rapid non-contact & non-destructive material evaluation.
- 2. Surface and subsurface characterization.
- 3. Bulk characterization.
- 4. Options for cheap and simple methods of measurement.
- 5. Ability to zoom on smaller details in the sample.
- 6. On-line measurement.
- 7. Sample properties to be determined.
- 8. Affordable, portable and reliable

Rapid non-contact & non-destructive material evaluation fulfills the need to have real time measurement with the luxury of flexible working distances, shielded from exposure to hazardous environment and having no physical contact in order to prevent exposure to possible contamination or infection. Additionally, no elaborate sample preparations are necessary. This is limited to the measurement of temperature of the surface from emitted gray-body radiation. The induced thermal wave in the sample can be directly detected as the change in the emitted radiation which depends on the sample thermal and optical properties it is associated with (Imhof *et al*, 1991)

- Surface emissivity
- Heating radiation penetration
- Thermal wave transparency

Thus the non-contact and non-destructive measurement (Moksin *et al,* 1999 and Moksin and Almond, 1995) in retro-geometry arrangement can be performed or adapted for

- · Single access approaches as in the case of semi-infinite samples
- Continuous assessment of on-going processes such as paint drying, changes in thickness during coating process, sample sintering, surface coating contact condition and degradation during exposure to harsh and corrosive environment etc.

Even though thermal waves cannot be launched in a particular direction, smaller details of the sample can still be examined by using tightly focused laser heating and point detection of reflecting microscope objective signal collecting units as described by Grozescu and Moksin (1998), Moksin (1993) and Moksin (1995).

Some samples of high reflecting surfaces may not absorb enough optical radiation to generate an appreciable thermal wave signal which can be detected. In this case even though thermal wave is too weak to be directly detected it may still cause localized surface thermo-elastic deformation. A laser probe can be used instead to monitor any appreciable deformation on the sample surface as it undergoes temperature change. The shift in the reflected probe beam spot on a position detector depends very much on the slope of the deformed surface and hence on the thermo-elastic property of the deformed portion of the sample (Grozescu, 1998). From this single measurement, it has the capability to examine the formation and reduction of induced surface deformation and describe it in terms of three important thermal constants i.e. expansion coefficient, conductivity and diffusivity. However, extra precautions have to be taken in this pump-probe technique whenever the temporal profile of the heating laser is crucial in the measurement (Grozescu *et al*, 2000).

The Laser itself is no doubt a source of inspiration to perform many types of measurements (e.g. Woolsey *et al*, 1982). Besides the laser, which is synonymous with light applications in expensive research, other light sources such as cheap camera flash with a combination of cheap PVDF detection techniques (Josephine *et al*, 2007, and Haydari *et al*, 2008) have found many

applications even at temperatures measuring as low as 80 K (Haydari *et al*, 2004, 2005a & 2005b) as shown in Figure 1. Another cheap detection method is by using a microphone which detects the elastic effect in the medium following modulated light absorption (Yunus *et al*, 1999).

There are a few other varieties of thermal wave generation and detection methods each of which has its own advantages as reported by Azmi *et al* (2008) and Azmi *et al* 2004.

Another important example is presented in the following section. This only serves to emphasise further the great potential that the thermal wave technique has to offer in cases which embrace multidisciplinary work.





## **CONVERGING THERMAL WAVE TECHNIQUE**

The advantages of having converging thermal waves as information carriers is perhaps best appreciated by looking it from diverging points of view. In the diverging thermal wave mechanism thermal waves spread out radially from a point heat source prior to its detection at a point laterally displaced (Moksin *et al*, 1994 and Luukkala *et al*, 1982). This arrangement is useful in examining sample heterogeneity in the radial direction and a complete profile of the sample can be obtained by rotating it in small increments up to 360°. However problems arise due to difficulties in detecting the signals particularly from high reflecting surfaces or low thermal diffusivity materials. Despite the laser beam being tightly focused, to the point that it could cause damage to the sample, to induce diverging thermal waves, the collected signals remain weak. To alleviate the problem a converging thermal wave technique was introduced by Cielo *et al* (1985). The heating laser beam was focused by using an axicon lens to form a circular pattern on the sample surface. The induced thermal wave inward flow from the heated annulus is detected at the center of the annulus. This arrangement significantly increased the signal to noise ratio to a value beyond what was achievable in the diverging wave arrangement. Enguehard et al (1989) seized this potential in measuring thermal diffusivity in radially anisotropic materials by improving the data analysis. The inherent sources of error found in this mechanism are non-zero width and non-uniformity of the annulus, the radial extent of non-zero and non-centered detection areas. These error problems become acute in cases where the optical heating beam has a smaller annulus radius which is a pertinent measure in the case of high reflecting surfaces or small thermal diffusivity measurements. Additionally the width of the annulus is limited by diffraction, and high focusing of the laser beam would also be damaging to the sample surface.



Figure 2 Schematic diagram of converging thermal wave technique (Murphy *et al*, 2005)

Since the work done by Enguehard *et al* (1989) there have been a few other models developed (e.g. Lu and Swann, 1991; Murphy et al, 2005; Kim et al, 2006) to improve further on data analysis, which were tested against data from thin films. The Murphy et al (2005) model is considered the perfect one to effectively reduce off-centered and heat loss errors in addition to procedures in measuring effective radius of the annulus. Using the model in the measurement scheme in Figure 2, the thinnest sample on which they could measure thermal diffusivity was a 30 µm copper foil which is thinner than the 50 µm as achieved by Kim *et al* (2006). It has enhanced greatly the capability of the thermal wave as information carrier for being able to recognize thin layers. These are already been achieved and accomplished despite of the problems associated with zero width of the annulus and zero size of detection area as required in the models which has been compounded by relatively weak signal remaining unsolved. Errors originating from both sources could theoretically be reduced by increasing the radius of the annulus but in so doing it would impair the signal since heat loss and noise would also dominate. Some trade off between the need for accurate and precise measurements and being able to get a discerning signal seems the only way out of this predicament. Bear in mind also that even at this level of accuracy of measurement and thickness of the sample an expensive ultra-short laser coupled with high speed detection is the only option. An even faster heating laser and detection method is required if the thermal diffusivity of materials increases further or the sample becomes thinner or both.

## CTWaveProbe™: THE NEW CONVERGING THERMAL WAVE TECHNIQUE

As stated earlier, success in thermal diffusivity measurements depends on the accomplishment of three major components i.e. thermal wave generation, thermal wave detection and data analysis to extract the thermal diffusivity value from the experimental data. The detection and data analysis parts can be simplified if strong thermal wave signals can be generated in the materials. Hence the thermal wave generation method could hold the key to simple detection and data analysis and possibly cheaper measurement & simpler operating procedures without sacrificing accuracy, precision and capability. Sometimes no matter how difficult a problem is it can be solved by a simple solution!

The novelty in the CTWaveProbe<sup>™</sup> is in its use of a very large number of annuli of heating beams instead of a single annulus in the conventional design mentioned in section 5 above. The Laser source is no longer a necessity in this scheme of thermal wave generation and neither are the complicated beam delivery optics as shown in Figure 2. This simple innovation was successful in solving all the problems related to:

- a) Weak signal detection
- b) Annulus zero width
- c) Zero size detection area
- d) Complicated operating procedures
- e) Annulus radius measurement

- f) Expensive manufacturing and maintenance
- g) Portability and mobility
- h) Detection position centering

The large number of heating annuli obviously supplies much stronger signals than which can be possibly collected from the single heating annulus. At the same time annulus zero width requirements can be fulfilled as the number of annuli is close to infinity. Further, the scheme also provides the flexibility of having detection areas of finite size. Smaller errors may come from determination of radius involving the few outermost annuli. Since these outermost annuli signals are much smaller than the signal from the infinite number of the inner annuli, the effect of the errors on the measurements is effectively nullified. However, as precaution, the CTWaveProbe<sup>™</sup> also specified the sample positioning procedure that takes into account the accuracy of the radius measurement. The other advantage of having a very large number of heating annuli is the elimination of the effects from non-uniformity in the beam profile that may exist by way of averaging.

This is the first time that converging thermal waves measurement can be generated in style without the expensive laser. No one has ever dreamt that all these can be accomplished by using a camera flash and a thermo-couple. The capability of the new design was proven by the measurements of high conductivity thin foils (Advent Research Materials Ltd) of thickness as low as 750 nm. It was tested against thinner sample of wider range of thickness than its competitors as presented in Table 1. There was no indication of any damage to the sample surface even for the thinnest sample as is normally present when laser heating is used.

 
 Table 1
 Thermal Diffusivity of Aluminum, Copper, Nickel and Zinc foils (Advent Research Materials Ltd) with respective thickness (in closed bracket) as compared to other work

	Thermal Diffusivity (10 <sup>-5</sup> m²s <sup>-1</sup> )				
Sample	CTWaveProbe™	Kim et al	Cielo et al (1986) &	Murphy et al	Weast (1994)
		(2006)	Kim et al (2006)	(2005)	
AI	9.45 (30 µm)			0.40	0.54
	9.80 (2.4 µm)	9.64 (100 µm)	8.12 (100 μm)	9.49	9.54
	9.12 (1.5 µm)	9.78 (50 µm)	9.12 (50 µm)	(645	(bulk)
	9.66 (0.75 µm)			µm)	
	11.70 (7 µm)				
Cu	11.48 (50 µm)	11.30 (50 µm)	10.26 (50 µm)	11.62	11.63
	11.62 (100 µm)	11.82 (100 µm)	11.45 (100 µm)	(34 µm)	(bulk)
		2.22 (50 um)	2.06 (50 µm)		2.29
Ni	2.31 (7 µm )	2.33 (30 µm)	2.00 (50 µm)	-	(bulk)
		2.31 (100 µm)	2.11 (100 μm)		
					4.19
Zn	4.19 (100 µm)	-	-	4.07	(bulk)

In the absence of the sample micrograph, it is difficult to ascertain what causes thermal diffusivity to vary with thickness, as shown in Table 1. Since the thermal diffusivity value of the thicker samples is closer to their respective bulk value (Weast, 1994), it is believed that at that foil thickness the effect of thermal wave interaction with sample boundary was not significant. As the samples become thicker the thermal wave recognizes it either as thick foil or bulk samples.

## CONCLUSION

The superiority of the simple thermal wave probe has been demonstrated in measuring thermal diffusivity of free standing high conductivity foils down to 750 nm at room temperature. The CTWaveProbe<sup>™</sup> is cheaper, simpler and a higher achiever than the other techniques. It should be the way forward if thermal wave application to stay relevant to the advancement in nanoscale measurement. It reaffirms my belief that simplicity can produce quality and superiority in revealing inner beauty.

Thin films are normally attached to its substrate. Converging thermal wave work on the effective thermal diffusivity of film/substrate composite is in progress.

## REFERENCES

- Azmi, B. Z., H.S. Liaw, W. M. M Yunus, M. Hashim, M. M. Moksin, and W. M. D. W. Yusoff. 2004. Normalisation procedure in thermal wave approach of thermal diffusivity measurement of solids using pyroelectric sensor. *Infrared Physics and Technology* **45(4)**: 315-321.
- Azmi, B. Z., M. Noroozi, Z. Rizwan, Z. A. Sulaiman, Z. A. Wahab and M. M. Moksin 2008. Simple TWRC technique by using optical fiber. *Infrared Physics and Technology* **51(3)**: 270-275
- Bruls, R. J., H. T. Hintzen, R. Metaselaar. 2005. A new estimation method for the instrinsic thermal conductivity of non-metallic compounds. *Journal of European Ceramic Society*, 25, 767.
- CTWaveProbe<sup>™</sup> . *Method for Measuring Thermal Diffusivity of High Conductivity Foil* Patent pending (PI 2007 1569)
- Enguehard, F., D. Boscher, A. Deom and D. Balageas. 1989. Measurement of the thermal radial diffusivity of anisotropic materials by the converging thermal wave technique. *Material Science and Engineering* B5, p. 127-134.
- Grozescu, I. V. 1998. *Laser induced transient photothermal radiaometry in opaque samples.* PhD Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Grozescu, I. V. and M. M. Moksin. 1998. Numerical solution of transient temperature for pulsed heating in a single spherical particle model. *International Journal of Numerical Methods for Heat and Fluid Flow* 8(2): 217-223.
- Grozescu I. V., W. M. M. Yunus, and M. M. Moksin. 2000. Effect of Q-switched pulse laser temporal shape on induced temperature profile of laser absorbing materials. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* **33 (6)**: 677-680.
- Grozescu, I. V., M. M. Moksin and W. M. M. Yunus. 2004. Heat conduction and laser beam deflection model using combined finite difference method for transient photothermal displacement technique. *Proceedings of SPIE - The International Society for Optical Engineering* **5581**: 399-408.

- Haque, M. A. and M. T. A. Saif. 2005. Thermo-mechanical properties of nano-scale freestanding aluminium films. *Thin Solid Films* 484: 364-368.
- Haydari, M. 2004. Development and applications of photoflash-PVDF technique in thermal diffusivity measurement at low temperature. PhD Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Haydari, M., M. M. Moksin, W. M. M. Yunus, I. V. Grozescu, I Hamadneh and S. A. Halim. 2004. Thermal diffusivity measurement of BSCCO superconductor from 85 K to 300 K using PVDF transducer. *Pertanika Journal of Science and Technology* **12(1)**: 129-135.
- Haydari, M., M. M. Moksin, N. Yahya, I. V. Grozescu and W. M. M. Yunus. 2005a. Thermal wave study on carbon nanotube filled polymer films at low temperatures by using flash technique *Am. J. Appl. Sci.* (Special Issue), p. 49-52
- Haydari, M., M. M. Moksin, W. M. M. Yunus, I. V. Grozescu and S. A. Halim. 2005b, Low temperature study on thermal behaviour of CMR samples by using flash technique. *Am. J. Appl. Sci.* (Special Issue), p. 59-62
- Haydari, M., M. M. Moksin, W. M. M. Yunus, I. V. Grozescu, I Hamadneh and S. A. Halim. 2004. Sintering time effect on thermal diffusivity in BSSCO doped with Sm at low temperatures as revealed by flash method, *Proceedings of SPIE-The International Society for Optical Engineering* **5581**: 315-322
- Haydari, M., M. M. Moksin, A. E. Abdulrahman, M. Deraman, W. M. M. Yunus, I. V. Grozescu. 2008. Thermal diffusivity of carbon pellets (CPs) treated with KOH *American Journal of Applied Sciences* 5(2): 165-168
- Haydari, M., M. M. Moksin, W. M. M. Yunus, I. V. Grozescu, Z. A. Wahab, and B. Z. Azmi, 2008. Application of square wave optical heating pulse model in measuring thermal diffusivity of SiC/B<sub>4</sub>C composites by using photoflash technique, *Nondestructive Testing and Evaluation*, in press.
- Husin, M. S. 2007. New converging thermal wave technique. M. S. Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Imhof, R. E., D. J. S. Birch, M. M. Moksin, J. F. Webb, P. H. Willson, and T. A. Striven 1991. Thermal wave NDE. *British Journal of Non-Destructive Testing* **33(4)**: 172-176.

- Josephine, L. Y. C., Z. A. Talib, W. M. M. Yunus, Z. Zainal, M. M. Moksin, I. V. Grozescu, I. Hamadneh, and S. A. Halim. 2007. Structural and thermal diffusivity studies of polycrystalline (CuSe) 1-XSeX metal chalcogenide compound. *AIP Conference Proceedings* **909**: 243-247.
- Kim, S. W., J. C. Kim and S. H. Lee. 2006. Analysis of thermal diffusivity by parameter estimation in converging thermal wave technique. *International Journal of Heat* and Mass Transfer **49**: 611-616.
- Lu, G. and W. T. Swann. 1991. Measurement of polycrystalline diamond film by the converging thermal wave technique. *Applied Physics Letters* **59(13)**: 1556-1558.
- Luukkala, M., A. Letho, J. Jaarinen and M. Jokonen. 1982. Photothermal imaging and thermal surface waves as a NDT tool for coatings. *Proceedings 1982 IEEE Ultrasonics Symposium*, p. 591-594. New York: IEEE.
- Mandelis, A. (2000). Diffusion waves and their uses. *Physics Today*, **53(8)**: 29.
- Moksin, M. M. (1993). Improvement of an opto-thermal technique for wood. Wood Science and Technology 28(1): 53-58.
- Moksin, M. M., W. M. M. Yunus, and Z. A. Talib. 1984. Measurement of thermal diffusivity of materials by diverging thermal wave technique. *Pertanika Journal of Science and Technology* **2(2)**: 175-179.
- Moksin, M. M. (1995). Optothermal study of small single particles. *Review of Scientific Instruments* 66(9): 4716-4717.
- Moksin, M. M. and D. P. Almond (1995). Non-destructive examination of paint coatings using the thermal wave interferometry technique. *Journal of Materials Science* **30(9)**: 2251-2253
- Moksin, M. M., I. V. Grozescu, Z. A. Wahab, W. M. M. Yunus and B. Z. Azmi, (1997). Effect of boron carbide composition in Si/B<sub>4</sub>C composite on surface temperature decay as revealed by thermal wave method. *Nondestructive Testing and Evaluation*, 13: 239-245.

- Moksin, M. M., I. V. Grozescu, Z. A. Wahab, and W. M. M Yunus. 1999. Thermal diffusivity measurement of black and metallic graphite paint coatings. *Measurement Science and Technology* **10(1)**: 7-10.
- Murphy, F., T. Kehoe, M. Pietralla, R. Winfield and L. Floyd. 2005. Development of an algoritham to extract thermal diffusivity for the radial converging wave technique. *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer* **48**: 1395-1402.
- Ozisik, M. N. 1993. *Heat Conduction* (3rd. Edition). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Weast, R. C. (Ed.), *CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics*, CRC Press, Florida, 1994
- Woolsey, G.A., M. Y. Sulaiman, and M. M. Moksin. 1982. Correlation of changes in laser tube temperature, cavity length, and beam polarization for an internal-mirror helium-neon laser. *American Journal of Physics* **50(10)**: 936-940.
- Yunus, W. M. M., C. Y. J. Fanny, I. V. Grozescu, A. Zakaria, Z. A. Talib, and M. M. Moksin (1999). Photoacoustic technique as a tool for measuring thermal diffusivity of materials. *Acta Physica Sinica (overseas Edition)* 8 SUPPL. 1: S241-S245.
- Yunus, W. M. M., C. Y. J. Fanny, M. M. Moksin, T. E. Phing and S. A. Halim. 2001. Thermal diffusivity measurement of gold alloys and superconducting ceramics using photoacoustic technique. *Pacific Rim Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics, CLEO - Technical Digest* 2: II226-II227.
- Yunus, W. M. M., C. Y. J. Fanny, T. E. Phing, S. B. Mohamed, S. A. Halim and M. M. Moksin. 2002. Thermal diffusivity measurement of Zn, Ba, V, Y and Sn doped Bi-Pb-Sr-Ca-Cu-O ceramics superconductors by photoacoustic technique. *Journal* of Materials Science **37(5)**: 1055-1060.

## BIOGRAPHY

**Mohd Maarof Moksin** was born in Sabak Bernam 55+ years ago. During his childhood his parents gave him all the trust and freedom to roam around the village where man and the environment co-existed happily. He however will not extend the same freedom to his own children without monitoring and supervision.

He earned his B. Sc. (Hons) degree in Physics from UKM, M. Sc. from Brunel University and Ph. D. from Strathclyde University.

When he embarked on his career as a tutor in 1976, he didn't plan to become a lecturer which he did in 1979, and subsequently an associate professor in 1995 and a professor in late 2002, all at UPM. Now he plans to stay on at UPM to play with his many 'toys' in the laboratory.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Beyond the praise of kalimah alhamdullillah, I don't have sufficient words and deeds to express my gratefulness for His Blessings. Peace be upon Muhammad s.a.w., His servant and final messenger.

My work has been supported by multiple grants i.e. the UPM Research Grant, IRPA, TWAS, Science Fund and RUGS.

Sincere thanks to UPM management for the opportunity to serve and to gain experience in an environment swinging between conducive and challenging. My apology is also due for all my share of shortcomings. Sincere gratitude also to all my teachers, mentors, colleagues, friends supporters and critics. I also must thank my students in particular for being my research growth engine.

Last and most important of all, I am very grateful to my late parents for giving me total trust, freedom, advice, support and guidance in whatever steps and decisions I have taken. May Allah bestow on them His Mercy even as they cherished me in childhood. Also to my beloved wife and children for accepting the inevitable reality that UPM has become my second home.

#### LIST OF INAUGURAL LECTURES

- Prof. Dr. Sulaiman M. Yassin The Challenge to Communication Research in Extension 22 July 1989
- Prof. Ir. Abang Abdullah Abang Ali Indigenous Materials and Technology for Low Cost Housing 30 August 1990
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Rahman Abdul Razak Plant Parasitic Nematodes, Lesser Known Pests of Agricultural Crops 30 January 1993
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Suleiman Numerical Solution of Ordinary Differential Equations: A Historical Perspective 11 December 1993
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ariff Hussein *Changing Roles of Agricultural Economics* 5 March 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ismail Ahmad Marketing Management: Prospects and Challenges for Agriculture 6 April 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Mahyuddin Mohd. Dahan *The Changing Demand for Livestock Products* 20 April 1994
- Prof. Dr. Ruth Kiew Plant Taxonomy, Biodiversity and Conservation 11 May 1994
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohd. Zohadie Bardaie Engineering Technological Developments Propelling Agriculture into the 21st Century 28 May 1994
- Prof. Dr. Shamsuddin Jusop Rock, Mineral and Soil 18 June 1994

- Prof. Dr. Abdul Salam Abdullah Natural Toxicants Affecting Animal Health and Production 29 June 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yusof Hussein *Pest Control: A Challenge in Applied Ecology* 9 July 1994
- Prof. Dr. Kapt. Mohd. Ibrahim Haji Mohamed Managing Challenges in Fisheries Development through Science and Technology 23 July 1994
- Prof. Dr. Hj. Amat Juhari Moain Sejarah Keagungan Bahasa Melayu 6 Ogos 1994
- Prof. Dr. Law Ah Theem Oil Pollution in the Malaysian Seas 24 September 1994
- Prof. Dr. Md. Nordin Hj. Lajis Fine Chemicals from Biological Resources: The Wealth from Nature 21 January 1995
- Prof. Dr. Sheikh Omar Abdul Rahman Health, Disease and Death in Creatures Great and Small 25 February 1995
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Shariff Mohamed Din Fish Health: An Odyssey through the Asia - Pacific Region 25 March 1995
- Prof. Dr. Tengku Azmi Tengku Ibrahim Chromosome Distribution and Production Performance of Water Buffaloes 6 May 1995
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Hamid Mahmood Bahasa Melayu sebagai Bahasa Ilmu- Cabaran dan Harapan 10 Jun 1995

- Prof. Dr. Rahim Md. Sail Extension Education for Industrialising Malaysia: Trends, Priorities and Emerging Issues 22 July 1995
- Prof. Dr. Nik Muhammad Nik Abd. Majid The Diminishing Tropical Rain Forest: Causes, Symptoms and Cure 19 August 1995
- Prof. Dr. Ang Kok Jee The Evolution of an Environmentally Friendly Hatchery Technology for Udang Galah, the King of Freshwater Prawns and a Glimpse into the Future of Aquaculture in the 21st Century 14 October 1995
- Prof. Dr. Sharifuddin Haji Abdul Hamid Management of Highly Weathered Acid Soils for Sustainable Crop Production 28 October 1995
- Prof. Dr. Yu Swee Yean Fish Processing and Preservation: Recent Advances and Future Directions 9 December 1995
- Prof. Dr. Rosli Mohamad *Pesticide Usage: Concern and Options* 10 February 1996
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Ismail Abdul Karim Microbial Fermentation and Utilization of Agricultural Bioresources and Wastes in Malaysia
   2 March 1996
- Prof. Dr. Wan Sulaiman Wan Harun Soil Physics: From Glass Beads to Precision Agriculture 16 March 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Aziz Abdul Rahman Sustained Growth and Sustainable Development: Is there a Trade-Off 1 or Malaysia 13 April 1996
- Prof. Dr. Chew Tek Ann Sharecropping in Perfectly Competitive Markets: A Contradiction in Terms 27 April 1996

- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yusuf Sulaiman Back to the Future with the Sun 18 May 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abu Bakar Salleh *Enzyme Technology: The Basis for Biotechnological Development* 8 June 1996
- Prof. Dr. Kamel Ariffin Mohd. Atan *The Fascinating Numbers* 29 June 1996
- 34. Prof. Dr. Ho Yin Wan *Fungi: Friends or Foes* 27 July 1996
- Prof. Dr. Tan Soon Guan Genetic Diversity of Some Southeast Asian Animals: Of Buffaloes and Goats and Fishes Too 10 August 1996
- Prof. Dr. Nazaruddin Mohd. Jali
   Will Rural Sociology Remain Relevant in the 21st Century?
   21 September 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Rani Bahaman Leptospirosis-A Model for Epidemiology, Diagnosis and Control of Infectious Diseases 16 November 1996
- Prof. Dr. Marziah Mahmood *Plant Biotechnology - Strategies for Commercialization* 21 December 1996
- Prof. Dr. Ishak Hj. Omar Market Relationships in the Malaysian Fish Trade: Theory and Application 22 March 1997
- 40. Prof. Dr. Suhaila Mohamad Food and Its Healing Power 12 April 1997

- Prof. Dr. Malay Raj Mukerjee
   A Distributed Collaborative Environment for Distance Learning Applications 17 June 1998
- Prof. Dr. Wong Kai Choo Advancing the Fruit Industry in Malaysia: A Need to Shift Research Emphasis 15 May 1999
- Prof. Dr. Aini Ideris Avian Respiratory and Immunosuppressive Diseases- A Fatal Attraction 10 July 1999
- 44. Prof. Dr. Sariah Meon Biological Control of Plant Pathogens: Harnessing the Richness of Microbial Diversity 14 August 1999
- Prof. Dr. Azizah Hashim *The Endomycorrhiza: A Futile Investment?* 23 Oktober 1999
- Prof. Dr. Noraini Abdul Samad Molecular Plant Virology: The Way Forward 2 February 2000
- Prof. Dr. Muhamad Awang Do We Have Enough Clean Air to Breathe? 7 April 2000
- Prof. Dr. Lee Chnoong Kheng Green Environment, Clean Power 24 June 2000
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ghazali Mohayidin Managing Change in the Agriculture Sector: The Need for Innovative Educational Initiatives 12 January 2002
- Prof. Dr. Fatimah Mohd. Arshad Analisis Pemasaran Pertanian di Malaysia: Keperluan Agenda Pembaharuan 26 Januari 2002

- Prof. Dr. Nik Mustapha R. Abdullah Fisheries Co-Management: An Institutional Innovation Towards Sustainable Fisheries Industry 28 February 2002
- Prof. Dr. Gulam Rusul Rahmat Ali Food Safety: Perspectives and Challenges 23 March 2002
- Prof. Dr. Zaharah A. Rahman Nutrient Management Strategies for Sustainable Crop Production in Acid Soils: The Role of Research Using Isotopes 13 April 2002
- Prof. Dr. Maisom Abdullah *Productivity Driven Growth: Problems & Possibilities* 27 April 2002
- Prof. Dr. Wan Omar Abdullah Immunodiagnosis and Vaccination for Brugian Filariasis: Direct Rewards from Research Investments
   June 2002
- 56. Prof. Dr. Syed Tajuddin Syed Hassan Agro-ento Bioinformation: Towards the Edge of Reality 22 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Dahlan Ismail Sustainability of Tropical Animal-Agricultural Production Systems: Integration of Dynamic Complex Systems 27 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Ahmad Zubaidi Baharumshah *The Economics of Exchange Rates in the East Asian Countries* 26 October 2002
- Prof. Dr. Shaik Md. Noor Alam S.M. Hussain Contractual Justice in Asean: A Comparative View of Coercion 31 October 2002
- Prof. Dr. Wan Md. Zin Wan Yunus Chemical Modification of Polymers: Current and Future Routes for Synthesizing New Polymeric Compounds 9 November 2002

- 61. Prof. Dr. Annuar Md. Nassir Is the KLSE Efficient? Efficient Market Hypothesis vs Behavioural Finance 23 November 2002
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Radin Umar Radin Sohadi Road Safety Interventions in Malaysia: How Effective Are They? 21 February 2003
- Prof. Dr. Shamsher Mohamad The New Shares Market: Regulatory Intervention, Forecast Errors and Challenges 26 April 2003
- Prof. Dr. Han Chun Kwong Blueprint for Transformation or Business as Usual? A Structurational Perspective of the Knowledge-Based Economy in Malaysia 31 May 2003
- Prof. Dr. Mawardi Rahmani
   Chemical Diversity of Malaysian Flora: Potential Source of Rich Therapeutic Chemicals
   26 July 2003
- Prof. Dr. Fatimah Md. Yusoff An Ecological Approach: A Viable Option for Aquaculture Industry in Malaysia 9 August 2003
- 67. Prof. Dr. Mohamed Ali Rajion The Essential Fatty Acids-Revisited 23 August 2003
- Prof. Dr. Azhar Md. Zain *Psychotheraphy for Rural Malays - Does it Work?* 13 September 2003
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Zamri Saad Respiratory Tract Infection: Establishment and Control 27 September 2003
- Prof. Dr. Jinap Selamat Cocoa-Wonders for Chocolate Lovers 14 February 2004

- Prof. Dr. Abdul Halim Shaari High Temperature Superconductivity: Puzzle & Promises 13 March 2004
- Prof. Dr. Yaakob Che Man Oils and Fats Analysis - Recent Advances and Future Prospects 27 March 2004
- Prof. Dr. Kaida Khalid *Microwave Aquametry: A Growing Technology* 24 April 2004
- Prof. Dr. Hasanah Mohd. Ghazali Tapping the Power of Enzymes- Greening the Food Industry 11 May 2004
- Prof. Dr. Yusof Ibrahim The Spider Mite Saga: Quest for Biorational Management Strategies 22 May 2004
- Prof. Datin Dr. Sharifah Md. Nor The Education of At-Risk Children: The Challenges Ahead 26 June 2004
- Prof. Dr. Ir. Wan Ishak Wan Ismail *Agricultural Robot: A New Technology Development for Agro-Based Industry* 14 August 2004
- Prof. Dr. Ahmad Said Sajap Insect Diseases: Resources for Biopesticide Development 28 August 2004
- Prof. Dr. Aminah Ahmad The Interface of Work and Family Roles: A Quest for Balanced Lives 11 March 2005
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Razak Alimon *Challenges in Feeding Livestock: From Wastes to Feed* 23 April 2005
- Prof. Dr. Haji Azimi Hj. Hamzah Helping Malaysian Youth Move Forward: Unleashing the Prime Enablers 29 April 2005

- Prof. Dr. Rasedee Abdullah In Search of An Early Indicator of Kidney Disease 27 May 2005
- Prof. Dr. Zulkifli Hj. Shamsuddin Smart Partnership: Plant-Rhizobacteria Associations 17 June 2005
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Khanif Yusop *From the Soil to the Table* 1 July 2005
- Prof. Dr. Annuar Kassim Materials Science and Technology: Past, Present and the Future 8 July 2005
- Prof. Dr. Othman Mohamed Enhancing Career Development Counselling and the Beauty of Career Games 12 August 2005
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohd Amin Mohd Soom Engineering Agricultural Water Management Towards Precision Farming 26 August 2005
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Arif Syed Bioremediation-A Hope Yet for the Environment?
   9 September 2005
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Hamid Abdul Rashid The Wonder of Our Neuromotor System and the Technological Challenges They Pose 23 December 2005
- Prof. Dr. Norhani Abdullah Rumen Microbes and Some of Their Biotechnological Applications 27 January 2006
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Aziz Saharee
   Haemorrhagic Septicaemia in Cattle and Buffaloes: Are We Ready for Freedom?
   24 February 2006
- 92. Prof. Dr. Kamariah Abu Bakar Activating Teachers' Knowledge and Lifelong Journey in Their Professional Development
   3 March 2006

- Prof. Dr. Borhanuddin Mohd. Ali Internet Unwired 24 March 2006
- Prof. Dr. Sundararajan Thilagar Development and Innovation in the Fracture Management of Animals 31 March 2006
- Prof. Dr. Zainal Aznam Md. Jelan Strategic Feeding for a Sustainable Ruminant Farming 19 May 2006
- 96. Prof. Dr. Mahiran Basri Green Organic Chemistry: Enzyme at Work 14 July 2006
- 97. Prof. Dr. Malik Hj. Abu Hassan *Towards Large Scale Unconstrained Optimization* 20 April 2007
- Prof. Dr. Khalid Abdul Rahim Trade and Sustainable Development: Lessons from Malaysia's Experience 22 Jun 2007
- 99. Prof. Dr. Mad Nasir Shamsudin
   Econometric Modelling for Agricultural Policy Analysis and Forecasting: Between Theory and Reality
   13 July 2007
- Prof. Dr. Zainal Abidin Mohamed Managing Change - The Fads and The Realities: A Look at Process Reengineering, Knowledge Management and Blue Ocean Strategy
   November 2007
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohamed Daud Expert Systems for Environmental Impacts and Ecotourism Assessments 23 November 2007
- 102. Prof. Dr. Saleha Abdul Aziz
   Pathogens and Residues; How Safe is Our Meat?
   30 November 2007

- 103. Prof. Dr. Jayum A. Jawan Hubungan Sesama Manusia 7 Disember 2007
- 104. Prof. Dr. Zakariah Abdul Rashid Planning for Equal Income Distribution in Malaysia: A General Equilibrium Approach 28 December 2007
- 105. Prof. Datin Paduka Dr. Khatijah Yusoff Newcastle Disease virus: A Journey from Poultry to Cancer 11 January 2008
- 106. Prof. Dr. Dzulkefly Kuang Abdullah Palm Oil: Still the Best Choice 1 February 2008
- 107. Prof. Dr. Elias Saion
   Probing the Microscopic Worlds by Lonizing Radiation
   22 February 2008
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Ali Hassan Waste-to-Wealth Through Biotechnology: For Profit, People and Planet 28 March 2008